

Pixout ArtNet Recorder Manual

support@pixoutserver.com

Pixout, SIA VAT: LV40103644210 Riga, Latvia

Data	Page	Description
19 Feb 2020	1	Initial document version
10 Mar 2020	36 37 21	ArtNet DMX triggering universe numbering starting from 0 Changed ArtNet DMX triggering playback Introduced FPS grabbing and custom FPS
12 Aug 2020	46	Updated image URL for downloading
11 Sep 2020	25	How to import cuelists from USB drive
11 Sep 2020	39	GPIO Triggering pinout
27 Dec 2022	47	Raspbery PI 3B+ firmware image URL

CONTENTS

CONTENTS	3
1. OVERVIEW	5
What it is	5
What it does	5
How to do it	5
Tested software	5
Package includes	6
2. WARNINGS	8
3. CONNECTION	10
4. HOW TO START	13
Default network setting	13
Connection setup	13
5. MANAGING YOUR RECORDER	15
Access Control Panel	15
6. CONTROL PANELS DESCRIPTION	17
6.1 USER CONTROL PANEL	17
6.2 ADMIN CONTROL PANEL	18
6.2.1 ART-NET NODES	19
6.2.2 CUELIST	20
Creating a cuelist	20
Recording a cue	20
Cue output filtering	22
Cuelist import and export	25
Status bar	27
6.2.3 RENDERS	28
6.2.4 NETWORK	28
Wireless connection	28
Ethernet static IP configuration	ז 29
6.2.5 SYSTEM TOOLS	31
Time	31
System Log	31

	Restore	32
6.2.	6 PACKAGES	34
6.2.	7 TRIGGERING	35
	Time Scheduler	35
	ArtNet	36
	ArtNet DMX	36
	Recording	36
	Playback	38
	GPIO trigger	39
	MIDI	39
	TEP EXAMPLE: CORD A NEW CUE FROM MADRIX	41
8. LICENSIN	G	44
	REACTIVATION	45
	RENEW THE LICENSE	45
	UPGRADE THE LICENSE	45
9. FOR UNB	OXED VERSION	46
	SPECIFICATION	46
	GETTING READY TO USE	47
10. CONCLU	ISION	51

1. OVERVIEW

Our company vision - simple and user-friendly remote control interface adopted for both novice and tech savvy users, small size and cost effective device for outdoor usage with good performance resource. Based on this vision, we've created Pixout ArtNet Recorder.

What it is

Pixout ArtNet Recorder (hereinafter – the Recorder) is a standalone, small sized, ArtNet DMX recorder device designed for outdoor environments.

What it does

It grabs ArtNet DMX sequences from software/hardware source, saves it internally and playbacks as indicated.

You can remotely manage DMX sequences and adjust settings from Control Panels using web browser or mobile device.

Key features:

- Standalone Recorder
- Outdoor friendly
- IP65 enclosure with connectors
- Up to 255 ArtNet DMX universes
- Remote control (Android/Apple/Web/API)
- High reliability for architecture, museums, art spaces and other objects

How to do it

Connect the Recorder to your PC and use your favorite software to create your own ArtNet sequences. Another option is to use MIDI / Lighting Desk to compose sequences.

Tested software

The Recorder was tested using following software:

- Madrix
- Jinx!

- grandMA2
- Glediator
- MagicQ
- MadMapper

Package includes



- Pixout ArtNet Recorder S-100
- Power Supply
- RJ-45 plug with IP68
- Protection
- User Guide
- Extension cable with EU/US plug

Warning! Please, use only supplied parts for mounting your Recorder. 3rd-party PSU or connectors might damage the Recorder's hardware.

Warranty is not applicable in case of using the Recorder with non-supplied parts.

There are boxed and unboxed versions of the Recorder. Boxed version, as you might guess, is ready-to-use from the box. Please find the manual about connection in the section <u>CONNECTION</u>.



Unboxed version is built for those who want to assemble their own system, but need a stable firmware, which could work seamlessly.

We have various licensing options, which allow you to purchase a license for the quantity of universes you need. Please find detailed information about licensing policy in the section <u>LICENSING</u>

2. WARNINGS

It is extremely important to check the following details while setting up a connection for the Recorder.

Check DC polarity in case you'd like to use your own PSU or make any modifications or integration.



1. Check voltage and use provided PSU only



2. Please use the correct RJ45 IP68 connector. It is critical for outdoor usage.



IP68 connector for Ethernet patch cord comes with the package.



You can use 3rd-party PSU or connectors at your own risk.

3. CONNECTION

There is an extension cable with EU or US plug (NEMA 5-15P) on one side and 3-pin female connector on the opposite side of the package.



1. Connect extension cable 3-pin female with PSU 3-pin male.



Unplugged



Plugged

2. Connect Ethernet male connector with the Recorder's female connector.



Unplugged



Plugged

Power ON! Let's go!

4. HOW TO START

Default network setting

Your device out of the box has the following default network setting:

Ethernet connection:	
IP: 2.0.0.230	MASK: 255.0.0.0
Wireless connection:	
IP: DHCP	ZeroConfig: <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u>

Connection setup

To connect to your Recorder:

- 1. Connect the Recorder to PC with Ethernet cable
- 2. Power up the Recorder
- 3. Setup static IP on your PC with the following values:
 - IP 2.0.0.* (except 230)
 - Mask 255.0.0.0
 - Gateway 0.0.0.0
- 4. **Unboxed devices only** Wait for about 5 minutes until the system is initiated for the first time
- 5. Type URL <u>http://2.0.0.230/px-admin/#/network</u> in browser address bar
- Specify your wireless router connection data (SSID/PSK) in Admin Panel - <u>http://2.0.0.230/px-admin/#/network</u>
- When device is successfully connected to the wireless network, you have to access it by ZeroConfig URL name <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u>
- 8. User Panel is available at http://pixoutserver.local
- 9. Admin Panel is available at http://pixoutserver.local/px-admin.

USEFUL INFORMATION

If you use Microsoft Windows, you need to setup Bonjour drivers first to support URLs like http://pixoutserver.local in your browser. You can download Bonjour for Windows here:

http://pixout.lighting/product-pixout/pixout-the Controller-downloads/

ATTENTION

Direct connection is intended for initial configuration and for sending / receiving data with ArtNet protocol. For routine work please connect by wireless and use http://pixoutserver.local

5. MANAGING YOUR RECORDER

Access Control Panel

Manage your Recorder's performance with Control Panels. Access Control Panel via any web browser installed on your PC/Mac or mobile device (iOS/Android).

There is an application for mobile devices, enabling easier access to the User Control Panel.

For iOS: click to download



Application gives access to User Panel via LAN or WAN. On first bootup you will be asked for LID – this is the Recorder's ID, you should use it to access your device. There is an option to request your own LID from our Support Team via <u>support@pixoutserver.com</u>. Or use default one:

Default LID: local

For Android: click to download



This application gives access to the User Panel from LAN only and there is no need for LID – simply connect to the Recorder by <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u> and start working.

6. CONTROL PANELS DESCRIPTION

There are two types of access:

- User Control Panel
- Admin Control Panel

6.1 USER CONTROL PANEL

Use the User Control Panel to adjust brightness, choose cue and start/stop playback. The User Panel has a status bar and a list of cues you can manage.

Access to User Control Panel: http://pixoutserver.local

User Control Panel allows to control:

- brightness level
- blackout
- play/stop cue

Handle these processes by clicking corresponding control and adjust playback speed and brightness. Blackout function might be used to decrease brightness to zero level and stop playback immediately.



6.2 ADMIN CONTROL PANEL

Admin Control Panel is for experienced users only. It has some features that can affect performance and productivity of the Recorder. You should have an understanding of all working processes and be able to handle errors.

Access to Admin Control Panel: http://pixoutserver.local/px-admin

With Admin Panel you can setup the Recorder, configure network, prepare cue for playback, import/export cues, start/stop cue, check system logs and access other features.

The main screen has a status bar with the same controls as the User Panel and Admin menu on the left side of the screen.





Page	DESCRIPTION
/Art-Net Nodes	Automatic detection of any Art-Net node
/Cuelists	Cues import/export and preparing cues for playback
/Renderers	Available renderers
/Network	Network configuration for access to the Recorder
/System Tools	System utilities: time, system restore, logging
/Packages	List of installed packages

/TRIGGERING

Managing cues with triggering

6.2.1 ART-NET NODES

Art-Net Nodes searches for all available devices on local networks, which support Art-Net poll/reply protocol and are able to send/receive Art-Net packets with DMX data.

Pixout S100	Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
Art-Net Nodes Cuelists	Art-Net Nodes
Renderers Network System Tools Packages	Art-Net nodes represent devices on a network that are able to receive and send out Art-Net packets with DMX data. For nodes to be added automatically, devices must support the Art-Net poll/reply protocol - every 3 seconds Pixout Controller will broadcast an ArtPoll packet, to which will expect an ArtPollReply response from devices on network. Those that do not reply, will be regarded as disconnected, and will no longer be unicast cuelist data.
Triggering	ENABLE UNICAST Toggle the slider to disable unicast and enable broadcast, so that all devices on network will receive cuelist data.
	Automatically added nodes (0)
▶ #	tensity: 100%

When the slider is in Off position, a unicast is disabled and broadcast is activated. In this case the Recorder will broadcast an ArtPoll packet every three seconds and wait for ArtPollReply from any device on the network. In case of no response from the device, this device will be regarded as disconnected.

When the slider is in On position, a unicast is active and broadcast is disabled. In this case all data will be sent to unicast IPs by default. If you want to change unicast behavior, use the filtering option. For more details check the section "CUE OUTPUT FILTERING"

USEFUL INFORMATION

Even when slider On/Off, the Recorder will reply with ArtPollReply by ArtPoll request from the 3rd party software.

Art-Net Nodes will show universe values as +1, which means that universe 0 will be shown as 1, universe 1 will be shown as 2, etc.

6.2.2 CUELIST

In this section you can make modifications, import or export cuelists.

Creating a cuelist

In the "Cuelist" section press "New" button, fill in the cuelist name in an input field and press "Submit" button.

С	uelists	3	
+ New	💼 Remove	💼 Remove All	
Import o	or Export all cu	uelists	
Otherwis		estoring from file, y	isk please press Export button and store proposed file in save place. You need to press button Import and select * .px file. File will be imported automatically
≜ Imp	ort		Import via USB flash drive Off

① USEFUL INFORMATION

Cuelist names may be edited afterwards by clicking on its name. When changes are made, click outside the input field, and the name will be saved.

Recording a cue

Now you have your own cuelist, but it is still empty. You need to record data from any ArtNet source. Select your Cuelist by clicking on it and then click the "Cues" button.

Pixout S100		Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
Art-Net Nodes Cuelliss Renderers Network System Tools Packages Triggering	MyFirstCueList Back to cuelists Remove All Name Recording not staried fratCue Off Custom timings FPS (frames per second) OPF (packets per frame) 20	
	Schedule Cuelist start and stop time Image: Start Image Image: Start Image <tr< th=""><th></th></tr<>	

Name your cue, specify FPS and click the "Rec" button on the right of your cue. FPS will be grabbed from your source by default.

In case you would like to specify custom FPS so please uncheck 'Custom timings' switch and specify FPS. It should be the same as a source provided by the device. PPF is usually equal to universes count. You can see the "Waiting for data" message, which means that no data received and the Recorder is in a waiting state.

		ed at the moment and uences reach the Re			
ut \$100					Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
	Art Net Nodes Cuellats Renderers Network System Tools Packages Triggering	Back to cuelists Back to cuelists Record Remove All Name Recording in progress	or Custom timings FPS (transes per second) 50 FPS (transes per second) 50	O E Rec Stop	

You need to send ArtNet data from your software / hardware to the Recorder by broadcast / unicast address (2.255.255.255 / 2.0.0.230 accordingly) UDP port 6454 or use Auto node discovering.

O Stop time

Schedule Cuelist start and stop time

Start time

ArtNet sequences recording may be stopped by clicking the "Stop" button. Repeating the previous steps, you can record as many cues as you need.

USEFUL INFORMATION

Pixo

If ArtNet DMX Triggering is enabled, recording will be started/stopped by triggering event only.

Total amount of cues and cue lists limited only by SD flash size. The provided SD card has a capacity of 8 GB and may be increased in size on

demand. At the moment we have limitations per one recorded cue. Maximal recorded length for one cue for 64 universes (30fps) is 10 min.

If you need to record a very long cue for more than 10 min, please split it into two or more parts.

Cue or cuelist can be removed with the help of buttons "Remove" or "Remove all". Before clicking "Remove" you need to select a cue or cuelist accordingly and only then click "Remove" button. On the opposite, "Remove all" button will remove all items without selecting.

Cue output filtering

Filter recorded cue output by universe and specify IP for each universe or broadcast.

Pixout S100					Status NSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
Art-Net Nodes Cuelists Renderers Network System Tools	MyFirstCueList Back to cuelists Remove All Remove All				
Packages		Name	Duration(sec)	FPS	
Triggering	III <universe>:<ip>:<port></port></ip></universe> Update Update <!--</td--><td>firstCue</td><td>60</td><td>30 Select</td><td></td>	firstCue	60	30 Select	
	Schedule Cuelist start and stop time Start time Note: You can leave stop or start time empty if you don't need it Scheduled job will start a specific time every day Scheduled job				

If you need to filter universes to different IP(s), please follow the syntax below:

Acceleration: 0%

Universe: IP: UDPport

Where:

Intensity: 100%

- Universe Allowed characters [0123456789*]. Universe starting from 0 (e.g. in case of 64 universe first universe will be 0 and last 63). Wildcard character means all universes.
- *IP* Any allowed IP addresses

UDPport - ArtNet UDP port (usual 6454)

Examples:

0:2.0.0.100:6454 - Send universe 0x00 to IP 1:2.0.0.101:6454 - Send universe 0x01 to IP 2:2.0.0.102:6454 - Send universe 0x02 to IP 3:2.0.0.103:6454 - Send universe 0x03 to IP

Note! For backward compatibility reasons, universe numbering starts from 0.

Universe duplication is allowed. You can send the same universe as many times you like to a different IP.



Pixout S100			Status
Pixout S100	Art-Net Nodes Cuelists Renderers Network System Tools Packages Triggering	MyFirstCueList Back to cuelists Remove Remove Remove Remove All Variation(sec) '2.0.0100:6454 0.20.0100:6454 1.20.0.100:6454 2.20.0100:6454 3.2.0.0103:645 4.2.0	LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
		Note: You can leave stop or start time empty if you don't need it Scheduled job will start at specific time every day	
	Intensity: 100%	Acceleration: 0%	
	intensity: 100%	ACCECTATION, 070	

Universes could be duplicated. For example send one universe to two different IPs, if you want the same effect on different ArtNet nodes.

Examples:

```
0:2.0.0.100:6454 - Send universe 0x00 to the IP 2.0.0.100
0:2.0.0.101:6454 - Send the same universe to another IP 2.0.0.201
```

USEFUL INFORMATION

If the filtering box is empty, the Recorder will broadcast universes to 2.255.255.255 address. So if you specified two universes out of four, in this case two universes will be unicast and two broadcast.

Universe / IP / port filtering in cuelist settings will have a universe range starting from 0 (not from 1) – if user inputs "1:0.0.0.0:1234" – it will mean universe 2 is filtered to IP 0.0.0 on UDP port 1234.

Cuelist import and export



You can save, export or restore your cues onto external device, such a PC, with "Import" and "Export" buttons.

Import via USB flash drive allows to import **cuelists.px** from USB flash drive. This file should be located in **Drive:\import** directory. Import will be enabled only if the switch is located in ON position until the user turns it OFF.



Also, additional file **status.json** optional could be placed too. This file allows you to select which one parameters will be activated after importing. Which cuelist to play, brightness, speed. status.json:

{	
	"PID":0,
	"OP":"play",
	"Fps":0,
	"Intensity":100,
	"UpdateUID":227498933,
	"Renderer":"artnet_player"
}	

Legend:

- PID Cuelist ID
- OP Operations "play" or "stop"
- Fps Speed, usually 0
- Intensity Brightness
- UpdateUID For internal usage
- Renderer For internal usage. Please do not modify it

USEFUL INFORMATION

If cues are long, for example, longer than 5 min, the process can take some time. Please be patient.

Status bar

On the bottom of the screen you can find the status bar. Here you can change Intensity and Acceleration for the current cue list.

	Intensity: 100%	Acceleration: 0%	1.0.0
 ÷.			

You can stop/play selected cue list using following buttons:

Stop
Play
Green icon indicates that there are no errors and cue is playing. Red icon shows that the Recorder stopped/no connection/error and cue is not playing stopped/no connection/error. The status bar shows information for current cuelist.

6.2.3 RENDERS

The Recorder is a highly modular system with the possibility to adopt for any business needs. Render module is used to broadcast / unicast recorded ArtNet flow to the Ethernet.

We can provide additional renders for your needs. For example, we could output ArtNet flow to DMX or even WS28xx LEDs SPI.

Renderers

Renderer provides the possibility to read cuelist and transmit cues by specified protocols. Each renderer supports one or multiple output protocols (for example ART-NET and/or SPI).



6.2.4 NETWORK

Configure your Recorder to have access by wireless or direct connection.

Wireless connection

Wireless connection is very important for the Recorder. You can work with the Recorder using wireless connection even if it broadcasts huge ArtNet data.

Wireless connection is used in the following cases:

Remote control - using mobile application or web browser;

Sends log information to the Pixout company server – in case of any errors our Support Team can find the root cause based on provided logs;

Automatic updates – every time the Recorder is turned on, it will check for updates directly from our server, if the Internet network is accessible.

Pixout S100	Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
	rk configuration
Varies significantly b System Tools controller device: N Packages the potential source Triogering network has an own	configuration ireless network to join. The operating distance or range of your wireless connection ased on the physical placement of the router/AP. For the best results, place Pixout ear the center of the area in which your wireless router/hotspot located, away from s of interference, such as PCs, microwaves, and cordless phones. Each wireless I Name(SSID) that you need to specify (up to 32 characters) for a successful rently supported security type is: WPA/WPA2-Personal with a pre-shared key.
Wireless Network Name	
Security Type	e WPA/WPA2 *
Password	PSK
	Show password
Security You can enter a pass	sword in ASCII characters and its length should be between 8 and 63 characters.
Save Reconnect	

USEFUL INFORMATION

If you are using Microsoft Windows, you need to setup Bonjour drivers first to support URL like <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u> in the browser. You can download Bonjour for Windows here:

http://pixout.lighting/product-pixout/pixout-the Controller-downloads/

When the device is successfully connected to your WiFi network, you can get access to it by DNS-SD URL name <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u>.

Use <u>http://pixoutserver.local</u> for User Panel and <u>http://pixoutserver.local/px-admin</u> for Admin Panel.

USEFUL INFORMATION

Use AES security method in your router to protect your devices.

Ethernet static IP configuration

You can configure IP parameters of Ethernet port manually.

Enter a new IP address of the Recorder in dotted-decimal notation.

Subnet Mask - an address code, which defines the size of the network.

Broadcast address – an address for data broadcasting for all devices in the network. This address should be specified accordingly to subnet mask (e.g. for 2.0.0.0 / 255.0.0.0 it is 2.255.255.255).



WARNING

If you want to change static IP, make sure that you have configured wireless connection. In case of any errors, you will still have access to the Recorder's Admin Control Panel using wireless connection. After you change the Ethernet port address, you must use a new IP address to login to the Recorder's User/Admin Control Panel.

6.2.5 SYSTEM TOOLS

System tools are used to figure out what happens inside the system, restoring factory settings if needed, and also for synchronization.

Time

This section is used to synchronize time on your Recorder with time on your web browser. Click the "Synchronize" button and you'll have the same time on both. Synchronizing is very important for scheduling cues playback.

Pixout S100		Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes		
Cuelists	() Time	9		
Renderers Network	Time configu	rration		
System Tools Time System Log Factory Defaults	Synchonize time between your web browser and Pixout controller. Time, date and timezone from you browser will be transmited to the Pixout controller. If you haven't Wireless connection you will need to synchronize time manually after each controller restart.			
Packages				
Triggering	Your time	Tue Sep 03 2019 23:46:52 GMT+0300		
	Controller time	Tue Sep 3 2019 23:49:05 EEST+0300		
	Use 24h clock			
	Synchronize			

System Log

Click the "Show" button in the System Log tab to get detailed log information from the Recorder. This information can be sent to the Pixout Support Team if needed.



There are three ways to send SystemLog to manufacturers' support.

- 1. Logs will be sent automatically, if there is an internet connection.
- You can copy SystemLog information and send it via email to support@pixoutserver.com, if you are not connected to the Internet,.
- 3. Click on 3 and send the last 1kB of system data to our Support Team.

Restore

If the system has become unstable or the file system was damaged, you can do a full system restore. It will reset the Recorder to the factory settings and restore the damaged file system. Please be patient, it could take 5 minutes or more.



6.2.6 PACKAGES

Due to the modular nature of the Recorder software, all system components are located in packages. Packages can be upgraded automatically from our server on system startup or manually. Every package has its own version and name.

Pixout S100				Stal SE ACTIVE 64 Univers
	Art-Net Nodes Cuelists Renderers Network System Tools Packages Triggering	Packages are distributions of software and data. Packages also contain metadata, such as the software's nam purpose, version number, vendor, checksum, and a list of dependencies necessary for the software to run pror controller device works with two different approaches. First, it is Linux-based firmware without the possibility to second it is package management for an application and data with the possibility to modify them. You can see packages below.	perly. Pixout modify it and	
		AUTO UPDATE VIA INTERNET Package update via Internet starts automatically on system startup. Controller must be connected to the Internet. UPDATE VIA USB FLASH DRIVE Package update via USB flash drive starts automatically on system startup. The drive must have valid update of AVAILABLE PACKAGES	Off ata on it. Off Refresh list Hide list	-
		1 ARTNET_PLAYER - 1.6.0A 2 ARTNET_PLAYER_VFPS - 1.2.1 3 DATA-DEMO - 1.0.0		
		4 LC - 1.0.0 5 NEW-REPO-UPDATE - 0.0.9		
		6 PXCLIENT - 1.1.8 7 PXGRABBER - 1.2.0 8 PXINPUT - 1.0.4		
▶ #	Intensity: 100%	9 PXSERVER - 1.3.0A Acceleration: 0%		

USEFUL INFORMATION

All Recorders are provided with turned off Auto Update via Internet. Please check this setting (it should have Off position) before supply to an end-user. Turned on Auto Update with Internet connected may start updating system packages and it can affect ArtNet data proceeding.

Currently update via USB flash is available for unboxed version only.

6.2.7 TRIGGERING

Triggering means managing start, stop, intensity change of your cuelists by external event.

Trigger Recorder with the following methods:

- Time schedule
- ArtNet, ArtNet DMX, GPIO trigger
- MIDI
- Web panel simplified for end-users and advanced for admins
- iOS / Android application

We can adapt our software to UDP triggering in short term on demand.

	🚽 🖹 Green fo	rest			
Cuelists		1030			
Renderers	← Back to cuelists				
etwork					
stem Tools	🖸 Record Remove	🛱 Remove All			
ackages					
iggering	Name		Duration(sec)	FPS	
	Demo 🔳		60	30	Selec
	Schedule Cuelist sta	art and stop time	9		
	© 09:30:00	O 09	9:35:05		
	Note: You can leave stop or st	art time empty if you do	n't need it		

Time Scheduler

You may schedule activity for every cuelist. You should go to **Cuelist**, select cue, click the "Cues" button. Then in section "Schedule Cuelist Start and Stop time" specify hour, minute and second for start and stop selected cue. You can't specify the date, so the cuelist will be scheduled for the mentioned time every day: if you specify 17:45 start time for cuelist, it will start playing at this time every day.

USEFUL INFORMATION

Pixout ArtNet Recorder S-100 doesn't have a real time clock and to sync time you need to have wireless connection to the Internet or make manual time sync from System Tools page every time after you switch on the device.

ArtNet

Art-Net triggering allows you to play or stop specified cuelist using Art-Net trigger command (ArtTrigger).

- Key = 1, Subkey = (cuelist number) Play cuelist
- Key = 2, Subkey = (cuelist number) Stop cuelist
- Key = 3, Subkey = (intensity value) Set intensity

You can check ArtNet triggering with DMX-workshop software, yet this approach is very rarely used:

https://artisticlicence.com/product/dmx-workshop/.

ArtNet DMX

Another option is to trigger the cuelist by DMX value inside the ArtNet package. You should define the exact universe first. Set the **General -> Universe** to value in range 1–32767. This will specify the universe from the packet that The Recorder will interpret as a trigger.

Recording

Cue recording start/stop is triggered from outside by the Artnet DMX package.
Pixout S100		Status LICENSE ACTIVE 64 Universes
Art-Net Nodes Cuellats Renderers Network System Tools Packages	Ceneral Configure tragering, control universe must be specified. Upon receiving Art-Net DMX packets with this universe, they will be inspected for a potential trigger action.	
Triggering	Universe 1 Recording To configure record trigger, control channel and threshold must be set. To start recording, the record button must be pressed and an Art-Net DLKX packet with channel value greater or equal to the threshold must be sent. To stop recording, a packet with channel value less than the threshold must be sent, or recording could be stopped manually.	
	Centrol not specified 100 Image: centrol durant Warning! If this is enabled, the Ploout controller will wait for a special Art-Net DMX packet to start recording and ignore all incoming packets until then. Both, starting and ending, control packets are never included in the recording.	
	Playback To configure a cuelist action larger, such as play or stop, control channel must be set. It is also possible to configure an action step, such that the channel value is divided by step on tigger. This may be useful to be able to configure value range for cuelists, e.g. if step is 2, values 0 and 1 vilic correspond to cuelist 0, and values 2 and 3 - to cuelist 1. This feature only applies to some of the playback functions, e.g. play and stop, but not intensity.	
	Action not specified not specified 1 CCC key channel value channel step	
	Note! Action key channel values: [1]: perform play action [2]: perform set-intensity action [3] - perform set-intensity action	
Intersity (2004)	Acceleration: 08	

1. Set Recording -> Control -> Channel to value in range 1–512

This specifies the channel in a packet that The Recorder will inspect to start or stop recording.

2. Set Recording -> Control -> Threshold to value in range 1–255

This specifies value that controls whether recording is to be started or stopped. If the Recorder receives a packet with channel value equal to or greater than this setting, it starts recording; if less, it will stop recording.

The Recorder is configured to start/stop recording using ArtNet DMX trigger, when both sections filled shows ON icon.

To start recording,

- 1. Go to Cuelist section
- 2. Select prepared cuelist
- 3. Click the "Record" button.

Now the Recorder is waiting for ArtNet data. Please find more detailed information about this in the section <u>CUELIST</u>.

Playback

Cue Playback functions like Start/Stop/Intensity are triggered externally by the Artnet DMX package.

Warning! If this is enabled, the Pixout controller will wait for a special Art-Net DMX packet to start recording and ignore all incoming packets until then. Both, starting and ending, control packets are never included in the recording.

Playback

To configure a cuelist action tirgger, such as play or stop, control channel must be set. It is also possible to configure an action step, such that the channel value is divided by step on tirgger. This may be useful to be able to configure value range for cuelists, e.g. if step is 2, values 0 and 1 will correspond to cuelist 0, and values 2 and 3 - to cuelist 1. This feature only applies to some of the playback functions, e.g. play and stop, but not intensity.

Action	not specified key channel	not specified value channel	1 step	OFF
Note! Action key channel values: [1] - perform play action [2] - perform stop action [3] - perform set-intensity action				

This section has 3 fields:

- 1. Key channel
- 2. Value channel
- 3. Step

In key channel value user will send 1(play), 2 (stop), 3 (intensity) and in value channel user will send the value for the action (cuelist id if key is 1 or 2, and intensity level if key is 3).

For example for Key channel 2, Value channel:3 and Step: 1

You need to send following DMX data to start playing (1) cuelist 10: 0x00, 0x01, 0x0A

The Recorder is configured to perform playback actions using ArtNet DMX trigger, when corresponding sections show ON icon. Recording should not be in progress, if you want the Recorder to listen to the trigger.

GPIO trigger

Use GPIO pinout to trigger DMX action. It will allow to toggle specified cuelist using GPIO pull-up button on a PIN. If you click the button once – toggle will be ON and cuelist will start playing, and if you click button for the second time – toggle will go OFF and cuelist will be stopped.

Please find GPIO PIN numbers at the bottom of this page. To configure GPIO triggering, please go to the section *Triggering -> GPIO* and choose cuelist that should be associated with The Recorder's PIN.

Pinout	
3v3 Power	1 🖸 💽 2 5v Power
BCM 2 (Pixout 8)	3 💽 💽 4 5v Power
BCM 3 (Pixout 9)	5 • 6 Ground
BCM 4	7 💽 💽 8 BCM 14
Ground	9 • • 10 BCM 15 (Pixout 16)
BCM 17 (Pixout 0)	11 💽 💽 12 BCM 18
BCM 27	13 💽 💽 14 Ground
BCM 22	15 💽 💽 16 BCM 23
3v3 Power	17 📀 💽 18 BCM 24
BCM 10	19 💽 💽 20 Ground
BCM 9	21 📀 💽 22 BCM 25
BCM 11	23 O 24 BCM 8 (Pixout 10)
Ground	25 • • 26 BCM 7 (Pixout 11)
BCM 0 (Pixout 30)	27 0 28 BCM 1 (Pixout 31)
BCM 5 (Pixout 21)	29 0 30 Ground
BCM 6 (Pixout 22)	31 0 0 32 BCM 12
BCM 13	33 💽 💽 34 Ground
BCM 19	35 📀 💽 36 BCM 16
BCM 26	37 💽 💽 38 BCM 20
Ground	39 • • • 40 BCM 21
	How to pull
	• With GND
	• With 3.3V

USEFUL INFORMATION

It would be beneficial, if you use Pixout PIN numbering. We have our own numeration system, so don't get scared. It is very easy to figure out how it works altogether with "classic" numeration. By pressing on the next GPIO, which is linked to corresponding cuelist, the previous one will be stopped automatically.

MIDI

Use triggering from external devices such as MIDI or Lighting desk or other to manage cue. Using MIDI commands you can select cuelist, change speed or brightness. Every time the button is clicked, it would trigger or stop the cuelist. The Recorder can also output control change values from 0 to 100 controlled by faders. Two of these channels are assigned to brightness and speed.

On note, CID=0x09, Pitch = (cuelist number) – Toggle cuelist playing/stopping

On control change, CID=0x0B, Channel0, Instrument number = (0-100) – Brightness

On control change, CID=0x0B, Channel1, Instrument number = (0-100) – Speed

Any external device can be connected with a USB port, so that's why this type of triggering is available only for **unboxed** versions.

7. STEP BY STEP EXAMPLE: HOW TO RECORD A NEW CUE FROM MADRIX

- 1. You need to connect the Recorder and PC to Internet switch, initially Madrix should not be started;
- 2. PC should be set up to 2.0.0.99 static IP;
- 3. Type 2.0.0.230/px-admin address in your Internet browser;
- 4. Find the "Cuelists" page, click "New" button.

If done correctly, you would see the screen as below:

Cuel	ists	;				
🕂 New 📋 Re	emove	Remove All				
MyFirstCueList		Submit				
Import or Expo	ort all cu	ielists				
1 T	Jelists re	storing from file, y	sk please press Export button ou need to press button Import	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		omatically
▲ Import				Imj	port via USB flash driv	Ve Off

- Specify a cue list name and click the "Submit" button. Congrats! You successfully created empty cue list, it's time to populate it;
- Click the "Cues" button on the cue list. New dialogue should pop up, where you can record ArtNet sequences by clicking the "Record" button. You need to specify cue name, FPS and press "Rec" and "Stop" buttons accordingly;
- 3. Start the Madrix and select latest project file;
- 4. Go to Preferences Device Manager ArtNet and double click on ArtNet device, now you are in ArtNet device configuration;
- 5. Tick on "Sdirect IP mode" and set 2.0.0.230 address or use "Search" button to retrieve Pixout IP automatically.

MADRIX - AF_consult_puzzle_7x7.msz*		– 🗆 X
File Edit Preferences Window Tools Previews Language		Help
		SUB No FX
🔰 🖉 Device Manager	Art-Net Device Configuration X	EY !
SI P1 DMX Devices DV/ Devices DMX In Device Name ArtNet Remote ArtNet 6001	Product: developer Firmware: v3.6 e OEM Code: 0x00FF me	S2 P1 S5 36 43 50 51 52 33 40 53 54 55 56 43 44 57 56 58 60 47 46 61 62 63 64
	Universe Universe	
SCE Color Scroll SUB Map Normal Colors BPM 114 Colors BPM 114 Color Weth 10 Cross Weth 50 Displacement 0 Speed		
Color Scroll	Layer Audio	Layer 🔨

- 1. Click "Apply" button and go back to the Madrix home screen;
- Now you are ready to record! Please keep in mind that without the dongle Madrix is working for around 40 sec and goes blackout for around 20 sec. You need to be ready with recording during 40 sec. You can save the project under different names (for example: setup_for_recording);
- If ArtNet sequences reach the Recorder, you will see message "Recording in progress", otherwise you will see "Waiting" message;
- 4. Click the "Stop" button to stop ArtNet sequences recording. New recorded cue by will be approved automatically.
- 5. Click the "Show output" button after cue is recorded. See the following screenshots for details:

Art-Net Nodes	MyFirstCueList		
Cuelists			
Renderers	← Back to cuelists		
Network	Record The move Remove All		
System Tools			
Packages		Name	Duration(sec) FPS
Triggering	ا	firstCue	60 30 Select
	<universe>:<ip>:<port></port></ip></universe>		
	Update		

After you are done with recording, stop the Madrix and go back to 2.0.0.230/px-admin in the Internet browser. Now you can select the cue to play.

8. LICENSING

You can buy a license for 4/16/32/64/.../255 DMX.

Without activating the license, you will have only 1 DMX universe for demo purposes. You should activate the license, after you get it.

There are two ways to activate the license: online and offline. Online activation is possible using wireless Internet connection. In case you don't have an Internet connection, please use the Offline activation option.

When connecting to the Recorder for the first time, you will see the following screen:



Now it is possible to skip the activation step and continue to work in demo mode with limitation to one universe. Otherwise, please activate the license and get full functionality according to the purchased license.

To activate your license, please click the "OK" button and get to the License section.

If you are connected to the Internet, it is better to activate license online. Just put the token which you received when purchasing your Recorder and click the "Activate" button.

If you are not connected to the Internet, you can use Offline activation. You should send an activation request to our Support Team via <u>support@pixoutserver.com</u> with copied "Request Key". Then put a provided token to "Response Key" field and click the "Activate" button.

See the image below.

Pixout S100			Status DEMO MODE 1 Universes
	Cuelists Renderers A Network th System Tools	License ctive license unlocks full potential of the Pixout controller. License can be activated online or offline. Below are unique numbers at identify your device. SN 000000 UUID 0fb9d865d286a6372e0b5c83c2b4a90c	
	Pi	nline activation ease enter the token, that you received upon purchase, to activate the device Token Please enter token Activate	
	Pi up th	ffline activation ease contact support@pixoutserver.com to request offline activation. In the email please quote the token, that you received on the purchase, and the request key below. We will generate the response key and email that back to you, please enter that in input field below. Request Key eyJzZXJpYWwiOliwMDAwMDAiLCJkYXRhijoiZXIKelpYSnBZV3hmYm5WdFlitVnIJam9pTUdGa05UazJORC Response Key Please enter response key Activate Activate	

REACTIVATION

If your SD card is corrupted, you should flash a new SD card, as described in section "6. UNBOXED VERSION" and reactivate your license.

RENEW THE LICENSE

If your Raspberry Pi has stopped working and you can't access it, you should use a new device and renew your license for it. If this is the case, please feel free to contact our Support Team via support@pixoutserver.com

UPGRADE THE LICENSE

If you need more DMX universes than you have, you don't need to buy a new Recorder with a new license. Please buy only one new license and use it with your current device. Activate your new license the same way as for the first time.

9. FOR UNBOXED VERSION



SPECIFICATION

Hardware: Raspberry Pi

- RPI 1B+ with Edimax EW-7811Un Wi-Fi dongle
- RPI 2B v1.1 with Edimax EW-7811Un Wi-Fi dongle
- RPI 2B v1.2 no Wi-Fi supported
- RPI 3B with Wi-Fi
- RPI 3B+/CM3 with Wi-Fi

RPI 4 - in progress ٠

Protocol: ArtNet DMX

Internal storage: micro SD card

Dimensions: L/W/H, 85.6x53.98x17 mm

Connection:

- RJ45 socket for 10/100Base-TX
- Wireless network 150Mbps •

Power:

DC power 5V micro USB •

GETTING READY TO USE

After purchasing the Unboxed version (PIXOUT SOFTWARE ONLY), please install firmware on SD card for using with your Raspberry Pi.

To flash your Raspberrey Pi with Pixout Software, please follow the next steps:

1. Download and Extract Pixout Software image: https://pixout.lighting/downloads/images/pixout-rpi3bp-ver2.z ip

_ 🗆 🗙

0 ¢

2. Download and Install Etcher tool: https://www.balena.io/etcher/

3.	Run Etcher		

3.	Run	Etcher
3.	киn	Etchei

Etcher

.		- 7
Select image		
🌍 balı	enaEtcher is an open source project by 📦	balena 1.5.5

4. Select extracted Image "backup.img"

😚 Etcher						×					
😚 Open											×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \vee \uparrow$] > This PC >	Downlo	ads					νÖ	Search			p
Organize • New folder									-		?
.S This PC	^	Name	^	Date modified	Туре	Size					
3D Objects		backup		09/12/2019 18:49	Disc Image File	358.400 KB					
E. Desktop											
Documents											
Downloads											
Music											
Pictures											
Videos											
🔩 Local Disk (C:)											
. · · · · · · · ·	~										
File name: bac	kup						~	OS Images			~
								Open	▼ C	ancel	
	🔗 bo	alenaEtcher is an op	en source proiect hy	😭 balena	1	5.33					
			project by	balend							

5. Select "Drive" where installed SD card and click "Flash" button

👶 Etcher – 17% Flashing	
	0 ¢
	backup.img 524.29 MB
While you are waiting, check out our featured project	SD SCS_ Device
	Triashing
Make a web frame with Raspberry Pi in 30 minutes Show family pictures, business dashboards, or anything with a URL	13.60 MB/s ETA: 0m31s
View tutorial	
Solution is an open source project by	📦 balena 🕺

6. After Flash is completed, you are ready to use Pixout software.



7. Insert SD card into appropriated slot



Your device is ready to use!

Last thing is to connect to your device as described in section HOW TO START and activate your license as described in the section <u>LICENSING</u>.

10. CONCLUSION

We are happy that you chose Recorder to manage your lightning!

This user guide describes basic operations with the Recorder. Our team is working hard on developing new features and constantly seeks to expand the Recorder's functionality. Check our web site https://pixout.lighting for all the updates and full information.

You will find documentation and download software on our website. Please check FAQ for customization and integration availability.

If you still have any technical questions about our product, please don't hesitate to contact our Support Team via support@pixoutserver.com.

If any financial queries, feel free to contact our Sales Team via sales@pixoutserver.com

ENJOY YOUR PIXOUT ARTNET RECORDER !

Delightfully yours,

Pixout